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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

BENJAMIN GESKE and JAMIE DUPAW, )
)
Plaintiffs, ) CaseNo.: 13-cv-7720
)
V. )
) JudgeRobertM. Dow, Jr.
FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASS'N )
a/k/a FNMA or FANNIE MAE et al., )
)
Defendants. )

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiffs bring a three count action aagst Defendants Federal National Mortgage
Association (“FNMA”"), Seterus, Inc., and Qitortgage, Inc. in connection with a wrongful
foreclosure action that was filed against PlaintifBlaintiffs assert a breach of contract claim
against FNMA and CitiMortgage (Count 1), a \atibn of the lllinois Consumer Fraud Act, 815
ILCS 505/2 against all Defendants (Count IIpdaviolations of the Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 16%2 seg. against Seterus (Count lll)Defendant CitiMortgage
moves to dismiss Count Il. For the reasons fiblédw, its motion [47] isgranted, and Count Il
is dismissed without prejudice.
l. Background*

Plaintiffs Benjamin Geske and Jamie Dupaw, a husband and wife, entered into a
residential mortgage loan R008. See [32], Am. Compl. B] 12. In 2010, Defendant FNMA
owned the loan and Defendant CitiMorggawas the servicer of the loahd. at  12. Plaintiffs

were required to make monthly payments of $1,4Rb. In September 2010, Plaintiffs entered

! In reviewing the instant motion, the Court accepsstrue the facts alleged in Plaintiffs’ amended
complaint and makes all reasonable inferences in their favore8edyicReynolds v. Merrill Lynch &
Co., 694 F.3d 873, 879 (7th Cir. 2012).
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into a private loan modification agreement thaiuld bring them currg on the loan; under the
agreement, Plaintiffs made a down paymen$4f715 and reduced their monthly payments to
$1,283. Sedéd. at §f 13-15, 17. Plaintiffs made tthewn payment in redince on FNMA and
CitiMortgage’s promise to grant them a loan modificatitsh.at  16.

Shortly thereafter, CitiMortgage transferred its servicing obligations to Defendant
Seterus, but allegedly failed to inform Seteafighe recent loan maiitation. See [32], Am.
Compl. 1 18, 19. CitiMortgage instead inforntgeterus that Plaintiffs were behind on their
payments. Seial. at § 20. Plaintiffs allege on informati and belief that CitiMortgage failed to
properly credit their previous payments, inchglithe large down payment that they made in
furtherance of the loan modification. Sde

In November 2010, Seterus informed Plaintiffs that they were behind on their payments.
See [32], Am. Compl. T 22. In respse, Plaintiffs repeatedly attgted to rectifythe situation,
and even requested that CitiMortgage and Seterus participate in a joint phone call. afee
19 23, 24. CitiMortgage refused to assist in &shion, as it no longer was the servicer of the
loan. Sedd. at § 24. Seterus proceeded to treatniifs’ loan as if it were in default by
assessing various fees, placing insurance enhttme even though Plaintiffs had their own
coverage, and finally filing a foreclosure actionApril 2011 in lllinois state court. Sed. at
19 2629, 35-37. The foreclosure was dismigatddprejudice on September 27, 2013, and the
state court awarded attorneys’ fees to Plaintifts.at I 38.

Plaintiffs filed suit aginst Defendants on Octabe28, 2013. Plaintiffs seek
compensatory and punitive damages for the emotional distress, humiliation, and embarrassment
that they suffered while defending the wrongfuleidosure. See [32], Am. Compl. §{ 42, 53.

Plaintiffs also seek damages for the additiontdrast, late fees, and default charges that they



were charged as a result of their loan paym@ot being credited properly, reimbursement for
postage, copying, and telephone exges that they incurred vid repeatedly contacting
Defendants and providing them with documentatbrtheir payments, and attorneys’ fees for
their defense of the foreclosure action. $@eat § 53. In Count I, Plaintiffs allege that
CitiMortgage and FNMA breached the mortgagel doan modification agreements that they
entered by failing to honor the loan modificatj failing to properly credit their payments,
treating their loan as if it we in default, assessing fees, and wrongftdheclosing. Seéd. at
11 44, 45. In Count II, Plaintiffallege that those actions—as well as CitiMortgage’s failure to
provide their loan modification daments to Seterus, failure to respond to their request for
assistance after the loan was transferred, and false reporting of Geske’s loan to credit bureaus—
constitute violations of the lllinei Consumer Fraud Act (“ICFA”). Sed. at 1 50. Plaintiffs
also contend that Defendants have engagedsimidar pattern of wrongfutonduct with others.
Seeid. at 1 52. Finally, Plaintiffs allege violatis of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
against Seterus. Sak at 1Y 55-60.
. Legal Standard

A Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss tests the sudincy of the complaint, not the merits of
the case.Gibson v. City of Chi., 910 F.2d 1510, 1520 (7th Cir. 1990 reviewing a motion to
dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the Court takestra® all factual allegations in Plaintiffs’
complaint and draws all reasonable inferences in their fa¥atlingsworth v. HSBC Bank
Nevada, N.A., 507 F.3d 614, 618 (7th Cir. 2007). To sueva Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss,
the claim first must comply with Rule 8(a) byopiding “a short and plain statement of the claim
showing that the pleader is entitled to relief”dFR. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)), such that the defendant is

given “fair notice of what the * * * clam is and the grounds upon which it restB&ll Atl. Corp.



v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (quotir@pnley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 47 (1957)).
Second, the factual allegations in the claim nhestsufficient to raise #hpossibility of relief
above the “speculative level,” assing that all of the allegations in the complaint are true.
E.E.O.C. v. Concentra Health Servs,, Inc., 496 F.3d 773, 776 (7th Cir. 2007) (quotifigombly,
550 U.S. at 555). “A pleading that offers ‘lab@ind conclusions’ or a ‘formulaic recitation of
the elements of a cause of action will not doAshcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555). However, “[s]pecifiacts are not necessary; the statement
need only give the defendant fair notice of witet * * * claim is and the grounds upon which it
rests.” Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 93 (2007) (citingvombly, 550 U.S. at 555) (ellipsis in
original). The Court reads the complaint and assesses its plausibility as a whokkir&ae
City of Chi., 631 F.3d 823, 832 (7th Cir. 2011); &kott v. City of Chi., 195 F.3d 950, 952 (7th
Cir. 1999) (“Whether a complaint provides noti¢ewever, is determined by looking at the
complaint as a whole.”).
1. Discussion

As discussed, Plaintiffs allege that Defemid&itiMortgage violated Section Two of the
ICFA. This section makes unlawful:

* * * unfair or deceptive acts or practigescluding but not limited to the use or

employment of any deception, @@ false pretense, false promise,

misrepresentation or the concealmentppression or omission of any material

fact, with intent that oths rely upon the concealmesyppression or omission of

such material fact, or the use or empleyrmof any practice deribed in Section

2 of the “Uniform Deceptive Trade Pras Act” * * * in the conduct of any

trade or commerce].]
815 ILCS 505/2. To state a clairRaintiffs must allege: “(1)n deceptive or unfair act or

practice by [D]efendant; (2) [D]efelant’s intent that [they] rely on the deceptive or unfair

practice; and (3) the unfair or deceptive praxtbccurred during a cae of conduct involving



trade or commerce.”Segel v. Shell Oil Co., 612 F.3d 932, 934 (7th Cir. 2010). Defendant
moves to dismiss, arguing that the claim isgonpted, in part, by theair Credit Reporting Act
(“FCRA"), is duplicative of Plainffs’ breach of contract claingnd is inadequately pleaded.

With respect to the preemption issue, Defenndantends that the claim is preempted by
the FCRA and must be dismissed to the exteat it is based on afjations of Defendant’s
inaccurate credit reporting activisie The FCRA regulates the duties of companies that provide
consumer information to credit bureaus and preempts any state law that also attempts to do so.
See 15 U.S.C. § 1681t(b)(1) (“No requiremenprohibition may be imposed under the laws of
any State [ ] with respect to any subject matbégulated under * * * (Fsection 1681s-2 of this
title, relating to the responsiliies of persons who furnish infmation to consumer reporting
agencies|.]”); see als®urcell v. Bank of America, 659 F.3d 622, 623-26 (7th Cir. 2011).
Plaintiffs agree that any damages stemmimgnficredit reporting activities are preempted and
that such allegations may be dismissed. S6g Pls.” Resp. 9 n.2. The Court therefore grants
Defendant’s motion to the extent that Plaintifféege that they may recover for Defendant’s
alleged unlawful crediteporting activities.

The Court now turns to the remainder o# #fCFA claim, which alleges damages that
stem from a variety of other @&s or omissions by CitiMortgageDefendant contends that the
claim must be dismissed because it is premisedn alleged breach obmtract (as set forth in
Count I) and does not contain sufficient allegatiohsinfair or deceptive practices. Defendant
correctly observes that the ICFA “is ‘not intked to apply to every contract dispute or to
supplement every breach of contract claim with a redundant reme@yeénberger v. GEICO
Gen. Ins. Co., 631 F.3d 392, 399 (7th Cir. 2011) (quotiBankie v. Queen Anne Landscaping,

311 Ill. App. 3d 308, 312 (lll. AppCt. 2d Dist. 2000)). Rather, alidhlCFA claim requires that



Plaintiffs allege “unfair ordeceptive conduct [that is] distinftom the alleged breach of a
contractual promise,id. at 400, and which “involves more than the mere fact that a defendant
promised something and then failed to doiahkle, 311 Ill. App. 3d at 312. See aldwery v.
Sate Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 216 Ill. 2d 100, 169 (Ill. 2005f“A breach of contractual
promise, without more, is not actidsia under the Consumer Fraud Act.”).

Here, most of the conduct that comprisesrfifés’ ICFA claim indeed is predicated on
breaches of the mortgage and loan modificatioeegents. Plaintiffs also allege, however, that
CitiMortgage “failled] to provide loan modification documents to Seterus [and] fail[ed] to
respond to [P]laintiffs’ requests for assistance dfterloan was transferréd Seterus|.]” [32],
Am. Compl.  50(c). This conductdsstinct from the contractudireaches set forth in Count I,
as it “involves more than the mere fact thajdiendant promised” to abide by the terms of the
mortgage and loan modification ragments but failed to do so, sémkle, 311 Ill. App. 3d at
312.

With that said, the ICFA only makes unlawhdts or practices that allegedly are unfair
or deceptive and upon which the defendatdrided that the plaintiff rely. S&segel, 612 F.3d
at 934-35; 815 ILCS 505/2. Theapitiff need not establish that the defendant intended to
deceive him, but he must allege that théeddant “committed a deceptive or unfair act and
intended that the plaintiff rely on that acéigod v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 673 F.3d 547, 575
(7th Cir. 2012). Plaintiffs contend that Deéflant’s shortcomings—naithye Defendant’s failure
to give Seterus the loan modift@n paperwork and refusal to hdhpaintiffs rectify the situation
with Seterus after the loan was transferred—aqualif “unfair” acts and practices. See [32], Am.
Compl. 1 50; [39], PIs.” Resp. 9. The Seventtcdt has explained that “whether a practice is

unfair depends on a case-by-case analysis,” latttkinee criteria are relevant: (1) whether the



conduct “violate[s] public policy,” (Ris “so oppressive that themsumer has little choice but to
submit,” and (3) whether the conduct “sa{s] consumers substantial injurySegel, 612 F.3d
at 935 (citingRobinson v. Toyota Motor Credit Corp., 201 Ill. 2d 403, 417-18 (lll. 2002)). A
“bare assertion of unfairness maut describing in what mannetretfalleged acts] either violate
public policy or are oppressive is insgfént to state a cause of action[JRobinson, 201 IIl. 2d
at421.

Here, the alleged circumstances surrounding Defendant’s handling of the loan
modification and the transfer of the loan to Seterus certainly indicate that Defendant made errors
and was unresponsive to Plaintiffs’ requests Help after Seterus begaservicing the loan.
Nevertheless, the allegations do not plausikiggest “unfairness” within the meaning of the
ICFA. Plaintiffs include no fad@l allegations that state andicate that Defendant’s failures
violated public policy or ros¢o the level of oppressive or @mive conduct. See [32], Am.
Compl. 1Y 18-28 (alleging that Ri&iffs made the loan moddation down payment, but that
CitiMortgage did not properly credit the payment, did not retransmit the loan modification
documents to Seterus, and that Seterus filtatexlosure action five onths later). Although
Plaintiffs allege injuries fronmaving to defend a wrongful for@sure action, it was Seterus, not
CitiMortgage, that foreclosed even though Pl&stllegedly provided Seterus with proof of the
executed loan modification. Seés at Y 25, 28. In addition, Plaintiffs have not alleged any
facts that indicate that Defendant intended tPlaintiffs rely on its shortcomings. The only
reliance allegation is that the down paymemd$] made * * * in reliance on defendants’
promise to grant them a loan modificatiord. at { 16—an allegation that supports the breach of

contract claim in Count hut not an ICFA claim.



The only remaining allegation that arguably is distinct from Count | is the allegation that
Defendant “induc[ed] [P]laitiffs to make a large payment ardischarged debt by promising to
modify their mortgage, and then fail[ed] toopiptly and properly credit the payment and/or
properly implement the loan modification.” [32], AlBompl. T 50(d). In their brief, Plaintiffs
stand on this allegation and argtirat alleging that Defendafihduced them to make a large
payment on their loan by prommg them a loan modification that was never implemented, * * *
[which] was part of a pattern and practicenmconduct by [Defendant]States a valid ICFA
violation. See [39], Pls.” Resp. 6—The Court respectfully disagiee This allegation is simply
another way of stating Plaintiffffreach of contract claim—in geular, that Defendant falsely
promised to modify Plaintiffs’ loan if they rda the down payment, and that despite Plaintiffs’
performancei(e. the $4,715 payment), Defendant did hotd up its end of the bargain. As
explained above, a recital of a breach of contragbisufficient to state a violation of the ICFA.
SeeGreenberger, 631 F.3d at 399 (affirming dismissal BEFA claim alleging that GEICO
“falsely promised to restore its insureds’hides to their prelss condition,” because the
allegations were “nothing more than restatemehtbe claimed breach abntract, albeit using
the language of fraud”)Kesten v. Ocwen Loan Serv., LLC, 2012 WL 426933, at *7 (N.D. IIl.
Feb. 9, 2012) (dismissing claim alleging that mortgage owner and senec violated ICFA by
failing to adjust interest rate, overcharging pldinéind misrepresenting interest rate because the
ICFA “should not apply to simple kbach of contract claims.”) (quotingm. Airlines, Inc. v.
Wolens, 513 U.S. 219, 233 (1995)). Couhtherefore must be dismissed.

Plaintiffs attempt to bring their allegatis within the scope of the ICFA because

Defendant’'s conduct allegedly constitutes “a pattef conduct which implicates consumer



protection concerns[.]” See [3R]s.” Resp. at 7-8. Plaintiffs egifically identify paragraph 52
of the amended complaint, whistates in relevant part:

The conduct in this case is not isolated, and is part of a pattern and practice of

wrongful conduct by defendants. Defendaate the subject of numerous suits

alleging improper mortgage servicing congund in particular unfair conduct in
connection with loan modification. In addition, CitiMortgage’'s parent
organization was the subject of an enforcement action by the United States and
attorneys general of 49 states lman modification abuses.
The Seventh Circuit recently rejected this tgb@rgument—namely, that a breach of a contract
gualifies as a violation of the ICFA by virtugf alleged similar bred®s of contracts on a
widespread basis. S&reenberger, 631 F.3d at 400. Otherwise pBlaintiffs’ allegation that
Defendant has repeated its condwith other consumers on a wifgead basis does not save
their ICFA claim here. Seig. (affirming dismissal of ICFAclaim alleging “a ‘widespread’ or
‘systematic’ breach of contract” because plaintiférely alleged “a simple breach of contract
multiplied over a prospective plaintiff clasgs opposed to “any unfair or deceptive conduct
distinct from the alleged breach”).

Finally, Plaintiffs’ reliance owigod v. Wells Fargo Bank is unpersuasiveWigod also
involved allegations of a defenddmaink’s wrongful refusal to gnt a permanent mortgage loan
modification. InWigod, however, the Seventh Circuit reversedistrict court’s dismissal of an
ICFA claim for reasons unrelated to the issue at hand W&rgod involved the misapplication
of the “intent” element (or lack thereof) ancethufficiency of allegations of pecuniary losses.
See 673 F.3d at 574-75. In any event, the ICFA claiMigod is distinct from Plaintiffs’
claim, as Wigod included allegations of fraud, such as misrepatieeistand the concealment of
material facts by the defendant. Sele at 574. Here, it is presely the absence of any

allegations that describe deceptive or unfair actsractices—apart from Defendant’s failure to

perform under the loan modification agreement—tkatlers Plaintiffs’ allegations insufficient.



See,e.q., Avery, 216 Ill. 2d at 169 (“A breach of contractual promise, without more, is not
actionable under the [ICFA].").

Although Plaintiffs argue in their responsébthat Defendant “inducing them to make a
large downpayment for a loan modification thets never actually implemented was deceptive,”
[39], PIs.” Resp. 9, there are no allegations smdimended complaint that plausibly suggest that
offering the loan modification was fraudulent. Agraliminary matter, and as Plaintiffs admit in
their brief, Plaintiffs do not actually allegeathDefendant violated ¢hICFA by engaging in
“deceptive” conduct (only “unfair” acts and practicedy.; see also [32], Am. Compl. { 50.
Further, the allegations with respect to Deferntgaoffer of a loan modification do not suggest
that Defendant made a misrepresentation—sashan intentional false statement or the
intentional concealment of a material fact—t@rmpt Plaintiffs to make the down payment.
Rather, looking at the complaint as a wholes #ilegations indicate that Defendant simply
breached the terms of the loan modification agreement by failing to properly implement the
modification after receiving the down payment. Seg,, [32], Am. Compl. 1§ 20, 50(d)
(alleging that Defendant did not properly credi frayments that Plaintiffs made, including the
down payment that was made in furtherancéhefloan modification agreement). Put another
way, the only “unfair” acts and practices allegedPiaintiffs’ complaint relate to Defendant’s
failure to perform under the loan modificatiore@gment and thus are fully encompassed within
Count I.

V.  Conclusion

For the reasons stated abobefendant CitiMortgage’s motiaio dismiss Count Il of the

amended complaint [47] is gradteand Count Il is dismissed Wwaut prejudice. If Plaintiffs

believe that they are able to revise their ICH&gations to state a valid claim, they may file a

10



second amended complaint within 28 days of the @ this order (or any extension of that
deadline that may be requested to accommaiti@earties’ settlement efforts [see 79]). The

case remains set for status hearing endistrict court on 5/14/2015 at 9:00 a.m.

Dated:March25,2015 / E " fi E ﬁ’:/

Robert M. Dow, Jr.
Lhited States District Judge
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